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INTRODUCTION


Situated 3km south of the city centre, the village of Rathmines has been a thriving suburb of Dublin since the mid-nineteenth century. Walking from town, Rathmines begins at the leafy Portobello Bridge, and extends to the borders of Ranelagh to the east, Rathgar to the south, and Harold’s Cross to the west. The area has long been popular with the well-to-do; in its early days it attracted the wealthy and influential, who sought more salubrious surroundings than the city centre, where poverty and destitution were rife, having been exacerbated by the devastating effects of the Great Famine.


Nowadays, Rathmines is a bustling melting pot – a vibrant community full of contrasts: the centre of the village has a wealth of bars, cafés, restaurants and shops; there are quiet Victorian terraces and modern apartments; there is a healthy mix of family homes, student accommodation and social housing; and there is culture aplenty, with a Town Hall, the excellent Carnegie Library, and state-of-the-art cinemas, all watched over by the unmistakable green dome of the Rathmines parish church.


For decades, Rathmines has been known for the diversity of its population. It is a popular destination for people who are new to Dublin – students and workers from all across Ireland and beyond – who live alongside older residents, many of whom have been in the suburb all their lives. These days, it is a joy to see such a variety of neighbours, with workers from all over the world raising their families here.


DRACULA, THE SINGING PRIEST AND LORD LONGFORD


A feature of Rathmines is the number of prominent individuals in Irish life who lived or were associated with the area and who had an influence in one way or another on Irish history, politics, literature, science, art and society. These include William Temple, Oliver Cromwell, Daniel O’Connell, Robert Emmet, Séan Lemass, Garret Fitzgerald, John Mitchel the Young Irelander, James Stephens the Fenian leader, Michael Collins, Cathal Brugha, the Yeats, Joyce and Osborne families, Countess Markievicz, Lord Longford, Mamie Caden, George Russell (AE), the Gifford sisters, Bram Stoker’s wife, the ‘Singing Priest’, Dr Kathleen Lynn, Annie M.P. Smithson, Dora Sigerson, and many more. It was, and still is, a much sought-after area, and it has also become the home for famous people in politics, the media, the business world, the entertainment and music world, the arts, literature and academia, amongst others. It has also retained its cosmopolitan atmosphere.


THE MAGNIFICENT DOME AND THE CURVED BESSBOROUGH PARADE


Rathmines is blessed with fine buildings and architecture which contribute enormously to the uniqueness and attractiveness of the area. The green-domed Church of Our Lady of Refuge, Rathmines Library, the Town Hall, the Bank of Ireland, the former Belfast Bank/TSB facing the side entrance to Slattery’s Pub, the Post Office, the Kodak building, the old YMCA building, Kensington Lodge, the Mageough Home, Grand Canal House, the former College of Commerce (now music school) and other fine buildings in the area, catch a visitor’s attention. The fine stained-glass-windowed church with its modern green roof in the grounds of St Louis High School in Charleville Road is another hidden gem. The curved terrace of houses at Bessborough Parade, lying in the shadow of the magnificent dome of Rathmines Catholic Church, is a similar treasure worth noting. Then there are the impressive squares and roads replete with splendid villas, detached red-bricks with granite steps sweeping up to the entrances, and much, much more. All these are a significant architectural heritage that adds to its unique and distinctive character.


FROM THE TOWN HALL TO THE DUBLIN MOUNTAINS


Designed by renowned Irish architect Sir Thomas Drew, Rathmines Town Hall was completed in 1899, making it one of the most impressive nineteenth-century town halls in Dublin. Its clock tower is something of a southside landmark; visible for miles, it punctuates what is already a grand skyline. There is something special about the view from Portobello Bridge to Rathmines, with the Dublin Mountains rolling across the horizon.
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EARLY HISTORY AND BLOODY FIELDS


THE RATH OF THE CELTS AND THE WRATH OF THE NORMANS


‘Rath’ is a significant part of the name Rathmines and it gives us some indication of its early history. A ‘rath’ was a fort or a defensive structure built on an elevated level to protect farms or dwellings. Because of the Gaelic roots of the name, however, it would indicate that the local Irish chieftains, before the coming of the Normans, would have recognised the importance and significance of an elevated location. With the Norman invasion of the late twelfth century, lands near the old city of Dublin were granted to William de Meones, and the area became known as Rath of Meones and subsequently over time evolved into the present-day Rathmines.


CULLENSWOOD AND UPPERCROSS


The history of Rathmines stretches back centuries. Modern-day Rathmines and the surrounding area was once part of ecclesiastical lands known as ‘Cuala’, ‘Cuallu’ or ‘Cuallan’. In the local surveys of 1326, Cuallu is noted as part of the manor of St Sepulchre. This was the estate, or ‘liberty’ of the Archbishop of Dublin (and it from here that the colourful Liberties area of Dublin takes its name). Cuallu later became the parish of Cullenswood, a name still extant in many parts of Rathmines and surrounding environs (particularly in neighbouring Ranelagh). Later, Rathmines was included as part of the Barony of Uppercross, a name that has remained in use in Upper Rathmines for generations. The name survives with the Uppercross House Hotel on Rathmines Road just beyond the Post Office. The name Cullenswood also survives in the adjacent suburb of Ranelagh.


THE COURSE OF IRISH HISTORY MIGHT WELL HAVE BEEN DIFFERENT


On 2 August 1649, the area we now know as Rathmines was the site of an intense, bloody battle of lasting political significance. This was during the Eleven Years’ War, and the skirmish, between the English Parliamentarian Army and a combination English Royalist and Irish Confederate Catholic Army, led to the defeat of the latter faction, paving the way for the arrival of Oliver Cromwell. Cromwell and his New Model Army arrived at Ringsend within a matter of days, and within four years he had completed his conquest of Ireland.


ENGLISH HAD LIMITED INFLUENCE AND CONTROL IN IRELAND


The Irish Rebellion having begun in 1641, the country had already been at war for eight years by this time. The Irish Catholic Confederation governed most of Ireland from its base in Kilkenny, and had, by 1649, aligned themselves with the Royalists in the English Civil War. The Royalists were opposing the English Parliament, which was determined to reconquer Ireland and destroy its autonomous identity. This included, among other highly contentious issues, suppressing Catholicism and destroying the indigenous land-owning class. Unsurprisingly, becoming allies with any English element was a very controversial proposal, but after a great deal of dispute, the Confederates signed a peace treaty with Charles I. It was agreed that the Confederation would accept Royalist troops and even put their own soldiers under the command of their officers (most notably James Butler, 1st Duke of Ormonde). As the Battle of Rathmines loomed, the English Parliament only held two small enclaves, one in Dublin and one in Derry. Everything was looking positive for the Confederate and Royalist coalition, until in-fighting caused them to take their eye off the ball. A fatal mistake.


SURPRISE: THE ESSENCE OF ATTACK WINS THE BATTLE


The English Parliamentarians had established a garrison in Dublin in 1647, and in July 1649, the 1st Duke of Ormond marched his troops to the southern outskirts of the city, determined to reclaim it for the coalition. The army, comprising 11,000 soldiers, took Rathfarnham Castle, and set up camp close to what is now Palmerstown Park. At that time, the stretch between the camp and the city was open countryside (a sight that is difficult to imagine these days). Slowly, Ormonde inched his army towards the city, repossessing the small satellite villages as they advanced. Confident with his progress, he sent a detachment to occupy the ruined castle at Baggotsrath (now the site of Baggot Street Bridge), unsuspecting that his adversary Michael Jones, the Parliamentary commander, had readied a 5,000-strong company for battle. On 2 August, Ormond’s men fled Baggotsrath in the face of a surprise attack and returned to the camp with news of this inevitable escalation in hostilities.


ROYALISTS FLEE THROUGH RATHMINES


By the time Ormande and his commanders could react, it was too late. They sent what units they had ready to stall the advance of the Parliamentarians, hoping that this would give them sufficient time to ready a proper army for combat. But these units were no match for Jones’s cavalry. Ormonde’s men did their best to retreat to Rathmines, but, with the enemy in hot pursuit, they were roundly overcome. The combat continued until the English Royalist troops mounted a rear-guard action (under the command of Murrough O’Brien, 1st Earl of Inchiquin), which allowed the others to escape. The number of casualties was contested in the aftermath of the battle; Ormonde recorded a loss of fewer than 1,000 men, while Jones claimed to have taken 4,000 soldiers and imprisoned 2,517 more. In his account, only a handful of his troops were killed. Modern historians tend to lean towards the latter.


OLIVER CROMWELL AMAZED


Having lost so many men, and all his supplies, Ormonde withdrew his troops, leaving the way clear for Oliver Cromwell, who referred to the Battle of Rathmines as ‘an astonishing mercy’ – a sign from God. He landed at Ringsend on 15 August with 15,000 men, determined to accomplish his conquest of Ireland. On the Confederate side there was widespread disillusionment, with many blaming the association with the Royalists for the state of affairs, and Ormonde was subsequently deposed as leader of Irish military.


[image: Illustration]


THE BLEEDING HORSE AND THE BLOODY FIELDS


The Battle of Rathmines left a lasting impression in the area, and there are clues to be deciphered in many local landmarks. Perhaps the best-known of these is the Bleeding Horse, a very popular pub at the corner of what is now Upper Camden Street. It is said that shortly after the battle ended, an injured horse wandered into the premises, an occurrence that left such an impression on the landlord that he changed the name of the tavern, and it remains ‘The Bleeding Horse’ to this day. There is also a painting in this landmark pub depicting the bleeding horse. It is one of Dublin’s most historic pubs, and has been frequented over the years by literary greats such as James Joyce, Sheridan La Fanu, Oliver St John Gogarty and J.P. Donleavy.


Palmerston Park in Rathmines was the site of part of the battlefield, and for many years was known as the ‘Bloody Fields’.


RATHMINES CASTLE AND SARAH PURSER


The present-day Kildare Place School is located in the grounds of what was originally Rathmines Castle. The castle was built c.1820 by a Colonel Wynne. It was later owned by John Purser Griffith, Chief Engineer of the Dublin Port and Docks Board. His niece was the famous artist Sarah Purser. Interestingly, though the castle dates from c.1820, Taylor’s Map of 1816/16 shows a ‘Castle’ but much closer to the eastern boundary of the grounds. We might surmise that Wynne’s castle was inspired by an earlier castle in the grounds. The Church of Ireland Teacher Training College School is also located on the site of the grounds of the castles.
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ASCENDANCY CONNECTIONS AND TEMPLE TIMES


WHAT’S IN A NAME?


When one considers the names of many of the roads in Rathmines, one gets an inkling of the history of the area. Names such as Palmerston, Temple, Cowper, Windsor, Prince Arthur, Grosvenor, Richmond, Bessborough, Cambridge, York, Maxwell and Belgrave dominate. There is even a Kensington Lodge. Consequently, the emphasis was on England’s history, politics and culture and the residents’ loyalty to those. One name in particular that stands out not only in the story of Rathmines, but also in the early growth and development of Dublin, and, for that matter, on Irish history from the seventeenth century onwards. That name is ‘Temple’.


TEMPLE TIMES, TEMPLE’S BARR AND RATHMINES


The origins of modern-day tourist mecca Temple Bar can be traced back to the late sixteenth century. Sir William Temple was a famous English teacher and philosopher who entered the service of the Lord Deputy of Ireland in 1599. A decade later, now well-established in Dublin, Temple became Provost of Trinity College and Master Chancery of Ireland, and he built his home on the corner of what is now Temple Lane and Temple Bar. ‘Bar’, coming from ‘barr’, means the sandbanks created by deposits carried by the flow of the river, and this area, then known as Temple’s Barr, has been called Temple Bar ever since.The shoreline was gradually extended and enclosed over subsequent generations, having originally been along a line coinciding with the present thoroughfare that extends from Essex Street, the Temple Bar street and Fleet Street. North of that line became reclaimed land either from the River Liffey or River Poddle.


TEMPLE AND CROMWELL


John Temple, son of William, wrote a ‘history’ of the 1641 Irish Rebellion with a strongly partisan and sectarian slant, that was to precipitate intense turmoil in the country. The Irish Rebellion, True and Impartial History (1644), quickly repackaged as History of the Irish Rebellion in 1646, was a wildly heightened version of the conflict and Temple used sensationalist woodcuts depicting the Irish massacring thousands of settlers. This, quite intentionally, inflamed Protestant indignation against the native Irish, and certainly contributed significantly to the severity of the Cromwellian campaign, in which, as we have read, Rathmines played a prominent role. John Temple’s incendiary book was reprinted many times over the ensuing centuries and helped confirm the colonists in their entitlements.




[image: Illustration]


Contemporary illustration showing Oliver Cromwell in Ireland, 1649, for the Battle of Rathmines.





THE CROWN’S NEST AND THE DOWN SURVEY


It may be argued that his book helped transform subsequent Irish history. Besides John Temple, two other individuals based in Temple Bar, William Crow and William Petty, were to be instrumental in defining the Cromwellian Plantation. The house of the first, known as the ‘Crow’s Nest’ on what is now Crow Street, was where William Petty (infamous for ‘Petty’s Down Survey’) devised the plan for the confiscation of most of the land of Ireland to give to adventurers and fortune seekers. Over the subsequent years, some of this land went to the descendants of William Temple, including land in what is present-day Rathmines.


Later in the seventeenth century, a Sir George Radcliffe built a mansion in the area (in the vicinity of present-day Palmerston Park) and it and the surrounding lands amounted to some 60 acres. In the eighteenth century, the Temple family took over Radcliffe’s lands and house. In 1746 the house was leased to William York, a Chief Justice of the Common Pleas. The Temple family consequently had an influence on the subsequent development of Rathmines right up until the present day.


LEPERS AND PALMS – REMEMBERING PRIME MINISTER PALMERSTON


The mid-nineteenth-century English Prime Minister Lord Palmerston is remembered in the area, as are his family names, Cowper and Temple. For it was by this time that the Cowper Temple family owned much land in the vicinity of what is now Palmerston Road. The Temple family had been ennobled under the title of Palmerston, the title deriving from Palmerston (now called Palmerstown) in Co. Dublin, an area where Lord Palmerston also owned lands. The name Palmerstown (previously Palmerston) derives from the medieval term ‘palmer’, meaning a pilgrim who has returned from the Holy Land with a piece of palm as a token of their journey. These pilgrims were often associated with leper hospitals, and indeed there was a leper hospital dedicated to St Laurence in the area.


‘PAM’ AND ‘THE MONGOOSE’


Lord Palmerston (Henry John Temple, 1784–1865) was the third and last Viscount Palmerston. He was a Liberal politician, later British Prime Minister, and he spent most of his adult life in government. Popularly referred to as ‘Pam’ and ‘the Mongoose’, Lord Palmerston served in office from 1807 until his death in 1865. When this part of Rathmines began to be developed from the mid-nineteenth century onwards, the name Palmerston (and Temple and Cowper) became popularised in the area.


DIAMONDS AND THE COUNTESS


One interesting piece depicting the family dates from the 1860s. The diamond-shaped collage features nine individual studio portraits of the members of the Palmerston family, suggesting family unity, cohesion and permanence. There is a sense of strength, balance and continuity in the image, which is adorned with a cherry-blossom border. It comes from the Jocelyn Album of Countess Cowper. Lady Jocelyn artfully placed her stepfather, Prime Minister Lord Palmerston, at the apex of the piece and her mother, Lady Palmerston, at the base, with their children and grandchildren arranged safely between them.




[image: Illustration]


Diamond-shaped collage of the Palmerston Family. ‘Diamond Shape with Nine Studio Portraits of the Palmerston Family and a Painted Cherry Blossom’, from the Jocelyn Album, 1860s.
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FROM OBSCURE VILLAGE TO A FINE SUBURB


THE BOLLARD, THE CHAINS AND THE RAMSHACKLE VILLAGE


In the early nineteenth century, Rathmines was a very green, sparsely populated area, as evidenced in John Taylor’s map of the environs of Dublin, 1816. This map shows Portobello Barracks and Rathmines Castle, as well as some houses along the main road. Fast-forward just two decades and there has been a huge amount of development. In the Ordnance Survey map of 1837, one can see new large houses and terraces.


Probably, the early village of Rathmines developed around a tributary of the River Dodder, known as the Swan River, as it flowed through Rathmines. The only reminder today of this village is an old bollard near the junction of Rathmines Road and Wynnefield Road. The ramshackle village was known locally as ‘The Chains’ because of chains separating the old cottages from the nearby river.




[image: Illustration]


One of earliest maps of Rathmines and Ranelagh, Taylor’s 1816. Courtesy of UCD Map Library





In The Neighbourhood of Dublin: its Topography, Antiquities, and Historical Association (1912), Weston St John Joyce maintains that ‘The Chains’ were so called, because a number of dilapidated shanties at this point were enclosed by chains hung from stone pillars such as now surround Stephen’s Green. These old rookeries were really an unsightly and insanitary slum, and were swept away some twenty-five years ago, much to the advantage of the neighbourhood.’


THE BARONY OF UPPERCROSS – FINE HOUSES AND SERVANTS


Yet, ‘The Chains’ was only a part of the growing village of Rathmines. As was the case in the growth of many of Dublin’s villages, including the nearby Ranelagh, Rathgar and Rathfarnham, the existence of a fine house helped in the development of a local village to service its needs, whether that be servants or supplies and provisions. Lewis’s Topographical Dictionary of Ireland (1837) described the growing village as: ‘a considerable village and suburb of Dublin in the barony of Uppercross, on the old road to Milltown, two miles from the G.P.O. containing 1,600 inhabitants.’ Lewis noted that there was ‘a station of the city police’ located at the corner of Rathmines. There was also a woollen factory owned by Messrs Wilans.




[image: Illustration]


Taylor’s map of the environs of Dublin, 1816, showing Rathmines.





Lewis then pointed out:




Twelve years since, Rathmines was only known as an obscure village. It now forms a fine suburb, commencing at Portobello Bridge and continuing in a line of handsome houses, with some pretty detached villas, about one mile and a half. [...] Among the most conspicuous are Rathmines Castle, the residence of J.T. Purser, Esq., a castellated mansion in tastefully disposed grounds.





The Dublin Penny Journal of 14 September 1833 surmised that while it presented an antiquated appearance, with its round Norman towers connected by curtain walls, its parapets and mullioned windows, its mouldings and machicolations, it was in fact an imitation, the original house having been enlarged and altered by Colonel Wynne.


It survived until the second half of the twentieth century. It was eventually demolished and became the site of the Church of Ireland Teacher Training College and later also of Kildare Place School, which moved from Kildare Place in 1969.




[image: Illustration]


1833 image of Rathmines Castle, Rathmines Road as shown in the Dublin Penny Journal.





THE GRATTAN SPA OR A SEWER


For hundreds of years, Rathmines was famous for its spa, or spring, and people came from far and wide to avail themselves of the supposed health benefits of the water there. Located on land close to Grove Park and Portobello Bridge, in the nineteenth century it became known as ‘Grattan Spa’, because it was situated on land that had belonged to Henry Grattan, the acclaimed politician and orator. Gradually, the spa became neglected and fell into disrepair, and in the 1870s disagreements arose as to whether the spa should be restored for posterity or done away with completely. In a bid to settle the dispute, a local property developer called Frederick Stokes sent samples of the water to Dr Cameron, the medical inspector. His report stated that, ‘It was, in all probability, merely the draining of some ancient disused sewer, not a chalybeate spring.’ The once-popular spa was swiftly closed to visitors, and it gradually faded from public memory.


HABERDASHERS, BOOTMAKERS AND BAKERS, ALEX FINDLATER AND LEES OF RATHMINES


Thom’s Directory during the mid-nineteenth century shows that Rathmines had nine grocers and provision dealers, a post office, chemist, butchers, bakers, bootmakers, wine and spirit dealers, haberdashers, a dairy, builders, painters, glaziers and sundry other businesses. Many of these small businesses were located in the vicinity of the old village.


Over time, bigger city-based shops opened up in Rathmines to cater for the more refined needs of the residents. These included Alex Findlater’s grocers and wine merchants; William Magee with similar produce as Findlater’s; Hamilton Long, chemists; Gilbey’s wine dealers; and the famous Lees of Rathmines shop. Most of these major businesses survived in Rathmines for more than 100 years until the 1970s. Today we are reminded of an early business with the name and date ‘The Leinster House, 1843’ over the entrance to what later became Madigan’s Pub and today Copán’s.




[image: Illustration]


Lees of Rathmines was a well-known shop for over 100 years.





THE GREAT FAMINE, TENEMENTS AND THE EXODUS FROM THE CITY


The expansion in business life in Rathmines coincided and was consequent to the fact that Dublin city was, at this time, becoming increasingly polluted and depressed, with tenements everywhere. As a result, and in great haste in the years of and following the Great Famine, the professional and middle classes, and later the lower-middle classes, began to leave the city in droves and move to new housing developments in Rathmines and beyond.
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THE RATHMINES TOWNSHIP AND THE FOUR-FACED LIAR


SPECULATIVE BUILDERS AND A PROPERTY DEVELOPER’S PARADISE


With this changed horizon leading to the expansion of the new suburb, Mary Daly of the Urban District Council (UDC) noted in her Victorian Dublin that ‘Rathmines was a property developer’s paradise and control was shared by a small number of businessmen who had extensive property interests in the area.’


One of the main developers of the Rathmines and Portobello areas in the nineteenth century was Frederick Stokes. An Englishman, Stokes was the first Chairman of the Rathmines Township Commissioners. To encourage prospective buyers to move to Rathmines from the overcrowded city, rates were kept to a minimum. Consequently, many wealthy residents of the teeming metropolis moved across the Grand Canal to Rathmines.


As time went on, the demand grew for more suburban accommodation for the lower-middle-class groups, and the Rathmines Commissioners were not slow to satisfy the demand. By the end of the nineteenth century, building had moved from fine, wide roads, like Palmerston and Leinster roads, to smaller terraces such as Gulistan.


THE TOWNSHIP AND THE CONSOLIDATION OF RATHMINES


Rathmines became classified as a township in 1847, a development that significantly catalysed the growth of the area, which then had a population of 10,000. Frederick Stokes and his associate Terence Dolan led the campaign to reclassify the area, under the Towns Improvement Act, and a small group of businessmen assumed responsibility for managing the district. Naturally, Frederick Stokes was the first chairman of the Rathmines Township (which later expanded to become ‘Rathmines and Rathgar’, encompassing Harold’s Cross, Ranelagh, Sandymount and Milltown). Most of those on the council had property interests in the area, and so, while the township was initially only responsible for sanitation, the new Rathmines council revised byelaws, building standards and rates to encourage development, both in terms of housing and public amenities.
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